IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 4 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

CASE NO. 82,832

Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD D. POUNDERS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MICHAEL DENNIS POUNDERS, deceased, and on behalf of RICHARD D. POUNDERS, individually, and LINDA POUNDERS, individually,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

GEORGE A. VAKA, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 374016
FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS,
VILLAREAL & BANKER, P.A.
Post Office Box 1438
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 228-7411
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant/Petitioner, Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, 2 states the Statement of the Case and Facts as follows:

This appeal arose from a summary final judgment on the issue of liability concerning uninsured motorists ("UM") coverage entered against Nationwide in favor of the Plaintiffs on April 12, 1993. (A 1-2) The judgment was entered pursuant to the court's order granting the Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment and denying Nationwide's motion for summary judgment concerning the existence of UM coverage. (A 3-4) A timely appeal to the Second District followed. (A 5) That court issued a Per Curiam Affirmance of the judgment concerning liability citing Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) and Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Phillips, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), rev. granted, 620 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1993). (A 177-178)

This case began as a one-count complaint brought against Nationwide and Jose Gomez by Mr. Pounders, as personal

For ease of reference herein, the Defendant/Petitioner, Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, will be referred to as Defendant or as Nationwide. The Plaintiffs/Respondents, Richard Pounders, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Michael Dennis Pounders, deceased, and on behalf of Richard D. Pounders and Linda Pounders, individually, will be referred to as the Plaintiffs. All other persons will be referred to by name.

In accordance with <u>Fla.R.App.P.</u> 9.130, an Appendix accompanies this brief. All references to the Appendix will be referred to as (A) followed by citation to the appropriate page number of the Appendix.

representative of the estate of the decedent, Michael Dennis Pounders, and on behalf of himself and his wife, individually. (A 6-10) The complaint stated that it was a claim for wrongful death and other damages. (A 6) It stated that Michael Dennis Pounders, the decedent, died on February 15, 1992, leaving his father as personal representative of the estate and his mother and father as the surviving beneficiaries under the Florida Wrongful Death Act. The complaint also stated that on February 15, 1992, Jose (A 7) Gomez owned and operated a 1988 Toyota in Lakeland, Florida, in a negligent fashion so that it collided with the decedent, resulting in injuries that ultimately caused his death. (A 7) The Plaintiffs sought damages for the wrongful death of their son and reserved the right to seek punitive damages against Gomez for his willful and wanton conduct in operating the vehicle while under the influence of alcohol. (A 8)

Paragraph 13 of the complaint alleged that Michael Pounders was a resident in the home of his mother and father who were insured with Nationwide. (A 8) The complaint further stated that Michael Dennis Pounders was an insured under two policies, each of which provided UM limits in the amount of \$50,000 and \$100,000 per accident. (A 9) The Plaintiffs alleged that the vehicle operated by Gomez was an uninsured motor vehicle. (A 8) They also stated that Nationwide had denied UM benefits under the terms of its policy and the applicable law. (A 9) The Plaintiffs sought damages against Nationwide and Gomez. (A 9-10)

Nationwide answered the complaint and admitted the court's jurisdiction, that it did business in the State of Florida and that it had been notified of the claim by the Plaintiffs. (A Nationwide also admitted that it properly denied UM benefits to the Plaintiffs under the terms of its policies and the applicable law. (A 12) Nationwide generally denied the remainder of the allegations. (A 11-12) Nationwide also raised a variety of affirmative defenses, those which went to the coverage and those which went to defending the tort aspect of the UM claim. (A 12-15) Of significance to this appeal, Nationwide maintained that the claims did not trigger the UM coverage insuring agreements contained in the two policies, and further, that the claims would be excluded by virtue of Exclusion Nos. 4 and 6 contained within the policies. (A. 13-14) Nationwide also stated that damages available to the Plaintiffs were those solely authorized by Fla. Stat. § 768.21 (1991). The Plaintiffs denied all of Nationwide's affirmative defenses. (A 16-17)

In December, 1992, the Plaintiffs amended their complaint striking paragraph 9 and substituting the following paragraph:

As a result of the death of Michael Dennis Pounders, his estate is entitled to recover for medical and/or funeral expenses and for net accumulations as set forth in Fla. Stat. § 768.21, and all other damages allowed by law including property damage to the 1988 Suzuki motorcycle owned and operated by the decedent, Michael Dennis Pounders, at the time of the accident. (A 18-19)

Nationwide thereafter filed its answers and defenses to the amended complaint. (A 20-24) In addition to the affirmative

defenses it had previously raised, Nationwide argued that property damage was not recoverable under the Florida Wrongful Death Act, that the Plaintiffs had failed to state a cause of action entitling them to recovery of property damage to the decedent's motorcycle, and further, the property damage was not a covered item of damage under the UM coverage provided by Nationwide. (A 23-24)

Thereafter, the parties entered into a stipulation of certain facts. (A 25-28) They agreed that the policies attached to the stipulation were correct copies of the respective policies under which the Plaintiffs were seeking coverage. (A 25-26) likewise stipulated that the policies had been issued to Mr. or Mrs. Pounders with inception dates of January 12, 1992, and expiration dates of July 12, 1992. (A 26) It was agreed that Michael Pounders was the resident son of Mr. and Mrs. Pounders, Nationwide's insureds. (A 26) The stipulation stated that at the time of the accident, the decedent was occupying a 1988 Suzuki motorcycle which was designed primarily to be driven on public roads. (A 26) It also stated that as a result of the collision between the Gomez automobile and the motorcycle operated by Michael Pounders, he sustained bodily injuries which resulted in his death. (A 26) The parties further agreed that for purposes of these proceedings, Mr. Gomez was operating an uninsured motor vehicle within the meaning of Fla. Stat. § 627.727(3)(b) (1991) at the time of the accident.

The stipulation also stated that the 1988 Suzuki motorcycle was not listed on the declarations pages of either of

the Nationwide policies. Instead, Policy No. 77 N 411-484 insured a 1988 Ford Thunderbird owned by and Mr. and Mrs. Pounders or either individually, and that policy had UM benefits in the amount of \$50,000 each person/\$100,000 each occurrence. (A 27) parties agreed that Policy No. 77 N 411-485 insured a 1986 Ford F-150 pickup truck and a 1951 Ford F-1 pickup truck, each of which were listed on the policy declarations. The policy declarations listed UM benefits in the amount of \$25,000 each person/\$50,000 each occurrence. (A 27) The parties agreed that the 1988 Suzuki motorcycle was not being used as a temporary replacement vehicle for any of the vehicles listed on the policy as a result of any breakdown, repair, servicing or loss. (A 27) The parties also stipulated that to the extent that it was determined that Michael Pounders would be entitled to UM benefits under the two policies, the amount of damages available to Mr. and Mrs. Pounders were the policy limits for the coverage under the two Nationwide policies, the amount of which to be determined in accordance with Florida law. $(A 27-28)^4$

THE POLICIES

During the proceedings below, Mr. Pounders maintained that the estate of the decedent had a claim and that additionally, he and his wife had individual claims which were subject to separate insurance limits. The judgment does not differentiate between these claims and in an abundance of caution, Nationwide sought review of them to the extent Plaintiffs argued that anyone other than the personal representative of the estate may assert a wrongful death claim or that the estate and Mr. and Mrs. Pounders are subject to separate claims limits under the policies. The Plaintiffs conceded at the Second District that the judgment did not address this issue and it will, therefore, not be argued before this Court.

The policies issued to Mr. and Mrs. Pounders are identical with the exception of the vehicles they insure. Policy No. 77 N 411 484 lists as the named insured Richard or Linda Pounders. (A 34) It insures a 1988 Ford Thunderbird automobile. (A 34) Policy No. 77 N 411 485 is likewise issued to Richard or Linda Pounders as the named insured. (A 60) It insures a 1986 Ford F-150 pickup truck and a 1951 Ford F-1 pickup truck. (A 60)

The policies contain the relevant exclusions to UM coverage. Exclusion No. 4 and No. 6 state:

This coverage does not apply to:

- 4. Bodily injury suffered while occupying a motor vehicle owned by you or a relative:
 - a) which is not insured for Bodily Injury Liability coverage under this policy; or
 - b) for which the owner has previously rejected Uninsured Motorists coverage with any insurer as permitted by Florida law.

It also does not apply to bodily injury from being hit by any such motor vehicle.

6. Payment for any punitive or exemplary damages. (A 51, 75)

The policies also provide automobile liability coverage. The policies state:

COVERAGE AGREEMENT

PROPERTY DAMAGE AND BODILY INJURY LIABILITY COVERAGE

- We will pay for damages for which you are legally liable as a result of an accident arising out of the:
 - a) ownership;
 - b) maintenance or use; or

c) loading or unloading;

of your auto. A relative also has this protection. So does any person or organization, except a vehicle leasing company, who is liable for the use of your auto while used with your permission. (A 41, 65)

The policies also contain certain coverage extensions concerning the use of other motor vehicles. The policies provide:

USE OF OTHER MOTOR VEHICLES

This coverage also applies to certain other motor vehicles as follows:

- 1. A motor vehicle you do not own, while it is used temporarily in place of your auto. Your auto must be out of use because of:
 - a) breakdown;
- c) servicing; or
- b) repair;
- d) loss.
- 2. A four-wheel **motor vehicle** newly acquired by **you.** It applies only:
 - a) during the first 30 days you own the vehicle unless it replaces your auto; and
 - b) if **you** do not have other insurance. **You** must pay any premiums resulting from this coverage.
- A motor vehicle owned by a non-member of your household and not covered in item 1. of this section.
 - a) This applies only to policies issued to persons (not organizations) and while the vehicle is being used by you or a relative. It protects the user, and any person or organization, except as noted below in b), who does not own the vehicle but is legally responsible for its use.
 - b) This does not apply to losses involving a motor vehicle:

- (1) used in the business or occupation of you or a relative except a private passenger auto used by you, your chauffeur, or your household employee;
- (2) owned, rented or leased by an employer of an insured;
- (3) rented or leased by anyone for or on behalf of an employer of an insured; or
- (4) furnished to you or a relative for regular use. Furnished for regular use does not include a motor vehicle rented from a rental company for less than 28 days. (A 42-43, 66-67)

The policies also contain certain relevant definitions.

Of significance to this case are definitions number 2, 6, 7 and 10.

Specifically, the policies include the following:

DEFINITIONS

This policy uses certain common words for easy reading. They are defined as follows:

- 2. "YOU" and "YOUR" mean the **policyholder** and spouse if living in the same household.
- 6. "YOUR AUTO" means the vehicle(s) described in the Declarations.
- 7. "MOTOR VEHICLE" means a land motor vehicle designed primarily to be driven on public roads. This does not include vehicles operated on rails or crawler treads. Other vehicles designed for use mainly off public roads shall be included within the definition of motor vehicle when used on public roads.
- 10. "OCCUPYING" means in, upon, entering, or alighting from. (A 37, 61)

Finally, with respect to the amounts payable for losses, the policies provide:

LIMITS OF PAYMENT

AMOUNTS PAYABLE FOR UNINSURED MOTORISTS LOSSES

We agree to pay losses up to the limits stated in the policy Declarations. The following applies to these limits:

 Bodily Injury limits shown for any one person are for all legal damages, including all derivative claims, claimed by anyone arising out of and due to bodily injury to one person as a result of one occurrence.

The per-person limit is the total amount available when one person sustains bodily injury, including death, as a result of one occurrence. No separate limits are available to anyone for derivative claims, statutory claims, or any other claims made by anyone arising out of bodily injury, including death, to one person as a result of one occurrence.

Subject to this per-person limit, the total limit of our liability shown for each occurrence is the total amount available when two or more persons sustain bodily injury, including death, as a result of one occurrence. No separate limits are available to anyone for derivative claims, statutory claims, or any other claims made by anyone arising out of bodily injury, including death, to two or more persons as a result of one occurrence.

- 2. Limits apply as stated in the Declarations, and are payable as follows:
 - a) Except with respect to **you** or a **relative**, the insuring of more than one person or vehicle under this policy does not increase **our** payment limits.
 - b) In no event will any insured other than you or a relative be entitled to more than the per-person limit which applies to the motor vehicle the insured was occupying when injured.

- c) You or a relative are entitled to up to the sum of the per-person payment limits shown on the Declarations. This does not apply to policies issued to corporations.
- 3. **We** will pay benefits under this coverage only over and above any that are available:
 - a) under any workers' compensation or disability benefits law or similar law.
 - b) under any auto Liability or auto Medical Payments coverage.
 - c) from any liable party.
 - d) from any source under the Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault Law. Benefits also will be payable only over and above any that would be available under this law except for the application of a deductible.
- 4. We will not pay any uninsured motorists loss until the limits of all bodily injury liability coverage available from any source have been exhausted by payment of settlements or judgments.

DISPOSITION

Nationwide filed a motion for summary judgment based upon the undisputed facts of record in that the decedent was operating his own motorcycle which was not insured under Nationwide's policy at the time of the accident. (A 29-88) As such, under the provisions of both of the Century II Automobile Policies issued by Nationwide, UM benefits were excluded by virtue of Exclusion No. 4 contained in the policies. (A 29-31) Copies of the respective policies were submitted with the motion for summary judgment as

well as the Plaintiffs' response to Nationwide's request for admissions.

The Plaintiffs also filed a cross-motion for summary judgment. (A 89-98) The Plaintiffs maintained that Nationwide's policy exclusions were invalid as a matter of law. (A 90) The Plaintiffs also maintained that the exclusions were invalid in that Nationwide had not procured a signed letter of rejection of UM protection from the insured pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 627.727(9). (A 90) In support of the motion for summary judgment, the affidavits of Mr. and Mrs. Pounders were filed. (A 95-98) In each of the affidavits, Mr. and Mrs. Pounders stated that at no point in time prior to the accident did they reject UM coverage in accordance with Fla. Stat. § 627.727(9).

Nationwide filed the affidavit of Robert Costello, Esquire, in opposition to the Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. (A 99-104) The affidavit stated that Mr. Costello was a claims attorney for Nationwide and was its corporate designated representative in this matter. (A. 101) Mr. Costello stated that the policies procured by Mr. and Mrs. Pounders were not policies which contained the alternative form of UM coverage authorized by Fla. Stat. § 627.727(9). (A 102) Instead, these policies were issued in compliance with Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1). (A 102) The affidavit further stated that Nationwide's form had been approved by the Department of Insurance and attached to the affidavit, the Department's approval of Form FA-6169-B which contained Exclusion No. 4. (A 102-104) Finally, the affidavit stated that neither

Nationwide policy was required to be issued in compliance with Florida's Financial Responsibility Law, Chapter 324 Florida Statutes. (A 102) Each of the parties submitted memoranda in support of their motion for summary judgment. (A 105-123, 124-141)

On March 15, 1993, the trial court conducted a hearing concerning the cross-motions for summary judgment. (A 142-176) The trial court concluded that Nationwide could not enforce Exclusion No. 4 contained in its respective policies and was prohibited by the rule of Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). The Second District affirmed that decision. (A 177-178)

ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY WHICH PROVIDES UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE PURSUANT TO <u>FLA. STAT.</u> § 627.727(1) MAY PERMISSIBLY EXCLUDE UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE FOR A PARTICULAR ACCIDENT WHERE THE LIABILITY PROVISIONS OF THAT POLICY DO NOT APPLY TO THE ACCIDENT?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue involved in this case is straightforward. It may be resolved by resorting to long-standing precedents and the appropriate rules of statutory interpretation. This Court should quash the decision of the Second District with instructions on remand to enter judgent in favor of Nationwide.

When construing UM policies and the UM statute, this Court has long held that UM coverage is intended to provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability insurance coverage prescribed by the Financial Responsibility Law. See, Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). Such coverage must be provided for "persons insured thereunder" in the minimum amounts prescribed by that statute. The term "persons insured thereunder" are those persons who are required to be insured by virtue of Chapter 324 Florida Statutes.

In <u>Valiant Ins. Co. v. Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1990), this Court re-emphasized its previous announcement of this rule in Mullis. The Valiant majority stated:

Since our decision in Mullis, the courts have consistently filed the principle that if the liability portions of an insurance policy would be applicable to a particular accident, motorist provisions the uninsured likewise be applicable; whereas, if liability provisions do not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorist provisions of that policy would also not apply (except with respect to occupants the οf automobile). [citations omitted]

The <u>Valiant</u> majority also emphasized the words "persons insured" as used in the UM statute were the same persons required

to be insured under a liability policy issued pursuant to the Financial Responsibility Law. Numerous Florida cases have already followed that analysis. See, e.g., Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Wright, 543 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 551 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989); Crosby v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 622 So.2d 117 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). In fact, the Second District has used this analysis on previous occasions. See, Bolin v. Massachusetts Bay Ins. Co., 518 So.2d 393 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

In the present case, the Second District cited as controlling authority the Fifth District's decision in Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Phillips, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), rev. granted, 620 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1993). This Court should reject the rule announced by the Fifth District and quash the decision below with directions on remand to enter judgment in favor of Nationwide because the decedent was injured while occupying his motorcycle which was not insured under Nationwide's policy and for which Nationwide was not otherwise statutorily obligated to provide such coverage.

ARGUMENT

I.

AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY WHICH PROVIDES UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE PURSUANT TO <u>FLA. STAT.</u> § 627.727(1) MAY PERMISSIBLY EXCLUDE UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE FOR A PARTICULAR ACCIDENT WHERE THE LIABILITY PROVISIONS OF THAT POLICY DO NOT APPLY TO THE ACCIDENT.

This case is not complicated. The material facts were not disputed. This case simply involves the construction of Nationwide's Century II Automobile Policy an whether it was required to provide UM coverage to Michael Dennis Pounders when he was killed while operating his own motorcycle which was not insured under the policies issued by Nationwide. Here, the trial court and the Second District erred when they respectively concluded that Nationwide was required to provide UM coverage to the resident son of Nationwide's named insureds for this accident. This Court should quash the decision of the Second District with instructions on remand to reverse the trial court's order and for entry of a judgment in favor of Nationwide.

Florida courts have often analyzed automobile insurance policies to determine whether an insurer may permissibly exclude UM coverage for any given accident. This Court's decision in Mullis v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) has been recognized as the "polestar" decision concerning UM coverage. As such, it provides the logical starting point for any analysis of Nationwide's policy and whether Exclusion No. 4 if permissible

See <u>Florida Farm Bureau Cas. Co. v. Hurtado</u>, 587 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1991).

under existing Florida law. In <u>Mullis</u>, Richard Mullis, the resident son of State Farm's insured, Shelby Mullis, was injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist, while operating a Honda motorcycle which was owned by his mother, and not insured under State Farm's policy. Mullis demanded arbitration under State Farm's policy. State Farm refused arbitration. State Farm's UM coverage provided that the company would pay all sums which the insured was legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured automobile because of bodily injuries sustained by the insured and caused by an accident with the uninsured automobile. State Farm's policy defined the term "insured" to mean the first person named in the declarations and while residents of his household, his spouse and the relatives of either. <u>Id</u>. at 231. State Farm's policy contained Exclusion (b) which read as follows:

Insuring Agreement III does not apply:

(b) To bodily injury to an insured while occupying or through being struck by a land motor vehicle owned by the named insured or any resident of the same household, if such vehicle is not an insured automobile;

Id. at 231.

Both the trial court and the First District determined that State Farm's exclusion was enforceable and that Mullis was not entitled to any UM coverage. This Court quashed the decision of the First District and determined that the exclusion was contrary to Fla. Stat. § 627.0851, the then-existing UM statute.

This Court explained that the UM statute provided that no automobile liability policy shall be issued with respect to any motor vehicle registered or garaged in Florida unless coverage was provided therein "in not less than the limits described in § 324.021(7) Fla. Stat. . . . for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease . . . " Id. at 232. The court explained that the term "persons insured" thereunder in an automobile liability insurance policy as contemplated by Chapter 324, Fla. Stat., the Financial Responsibility Law, ordinarily were the owner or operator of the automobile, his spouse and other members of his family resident in the household and others occupying the insured automobile with the owner's permission. As to those persons, they were protected by the policy from liability to others due to injuries they inflicted by their negligent operation of the automobile. Reciprocally, those same persons were protected by the uninsured motorists statute in the same policy from bodily injury caused by the negligence of uninsured motorists.

The <u>Mullis</u> court stated that automobile liability insurance coverage obtained in order to comply with or conform to the Financial Responsibility Statute, after an insured's first accident, could not be narrowed through exclusions which were contrary to law. The same was true as to the Financial Responsibility Law's counterpart, the uninsured motorists statute.

After reviewing the case law from around the state and the country, the Court described its holding as follows:

. . . Uninsured motorists coverage prescribed by section 627.0851 is statutorily intended to provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability coverage prescribed by the Financial Responsibility Law, i.e., to say where uninsured an motorist negligently inflicts bodily injury or death upon a named insured, or any of his family relatives resident in his household, or any lawful occupants of the insured automobile covered in his automobile liability policy. To achieve this purpose, no policy exclusions contrary to the statute of any class of family insureds are permissible since the uninsured motorists coverage is intended by the statute to be uniform in standard motor vehicle accident liability insurance protection of such insureds thereunder as "if the insured motorist had carried the minimum limits" of an automobile liability policy. [citations omitted]

Id. at 237-238.

The <u>Mullis</u> court concluded that as to the first class of insureds, those required to be insured under the Financial Responsibility Statute and reciprocally, under the uninsured motorists statute, they were entitled to protection whenever or wherever bodily injury was inflicted upon them.

Almost 20 years later, in <u>Valiant Insurance Co. v.</u>

<u>Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1990), this Court succinctly stated the analytical principle to be applied in such a determination as follows:

Since our decision in <u>Mullis</u>, the courts have consistently followed the principle that if the liability portions of an insurance policy would be applicable to a particular accident, the uninsured motorists provisions would likewise be applicable; whereas, if the

liability provisions did not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorists provisions of that policy would also not apply (except with respect to occupants of the insured automobile). E.G., <u>Auto-Owners Insurance Co.v. Queen</u>, 468 So.2d 498 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); <u>Auto-Owners Insurance Co.v. Bennett</u>, 466 So.2d 242 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>France v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co.</u>, 380 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

Likewise, the <u>Valiant</u> court once again emphasized the words "persons insured" as used in the UM statute, are the same persons who are insured under the liability policy required by the Financial Responsibility Law. <u>Id</u>. at 410.

Reading Fla. Stat. § 627.727 (UM coverage), in para materia with Chapter 324, Fla. Stat. (liability coverage), is not a new idea. Florida courts have long read the statutes together to determine issues relating to UM coverage. See, Fischer v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 495 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) ("It appears then, that interstices in the uninsured motorists statute are, by legislative design to be filled by the particulars of the more specific Financial Responsibility Law.") In fact, the earliest version of the UM statute makes specific reference to Chapter 324, Fla. Stat. See, Fla. Stat. § 627.0851 (1961).

Florida Statutes § 324.151 identifies those provisions which are required to be included in insurance policies which are issued to satisfy the statute. Florida Statutes § 324.151(1)(a) requires the owner's policy to designate all motor vehicles with respect to which coverage is granted. Further, the statute

requires that the policy insure the owner named therein and any permissive operator of the identified motor vehicles against loss from the liability imposed by law for damages arising out of the of motor maintenance oruse those ownership, Significantly, it does not require the owner's policy to insure all relatives who may happen to reside with the insured. Statutes § 324.151(b) requires such a policy to insure the person named within the policy against loss from the liability imposed upon him by law for damages arising out of the use by the named insured of any motor vehicle which is not owned by him within the territorial limits described within the statute. Florida Statutes § 324.151(2) states that the provisions of this section do not apply to any automobile liability policy unless and until it is furnished as proof of financial responsibility for the future as recognized by Fla. Stat. § 324.031. This Court has recently reaffirmed that the statute mandates liability coverage only after an insured's first accident. See, Grant v. New Hampshire Insurance Co., 613 So.2d 466 (Fla. 1993).6

Florida Statutes § 324.011 identifies the purpose of the Financial Responsibility Law. That section generally states that the operator of a motor vehicle involved in an accident or convicted of certain traffic offenses will be required to respond for such damages and show proof of financial ability to respond for damages in future accidents as a prerequisite to his future exercise of the benefits of operating or owning a motor vehicle on the public streets and highways of this state. Although not addressed in the trial court's order, nor by the Fifth appear that the Financial District, it does not Responsibility Law applies to this policy. In order for the Financial Responsibility Law to apply, the policy have been certified as proof of financial responsibility for the future in compliance with the act.

As noted by the <u>Valiant</u> majority, Florida's District Courts of Appeal have embraced the liability coverage analysis when determining whether there is reciprocal UM coverage for a particular accident. In this case, it appears that the Second District has overlooked its own precedent which has used the analysis. In <u>Bolin v. Massachusetts Bay Insurance Co.</u>, 518 So.2d 393 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), Mr. Bolin was driving his own separately-insured vehicle when he was involved in an automobile accident with an uninsured motorist. He made a claim under his wife's policy for UM benefits. The lower court granted summary judgment in favor of the insurance company. The trial court concluded that no benefits

See, Lynch-Davidson Motors v. Griffin, 182 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1966). Where the policy has not been certified to be in compliance with the act, exclusions contained in the policy do not violate the provisions of the Financial Responsibility Law nor of its underlying public policies. See, Yakelwicz v. Barnes, 330 So.2d 810 (Fla. 3d DCA), appeal dis., 341 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1976). The burden of demonstrating that the insurance company certified the policy as being in compliance with the Financial Responsibility Law and having been issued so that the owner could be in compliance with it, is on the insured and not on the insurer. See, Safeco Insurance Co. of America v. Hawkeye-Security Insurance Co., 218 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969). Where the policy is issued and is not certified as proof of financial responsibility, exclusions are valid and not in violation of Florida law See, Ennis v. Charter, 290 So.2d 96 or public policy. (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

Conversely, if the Financial Responsibility Law does not apply, there is no prohibition from including exclusions in uninsured motorists coverage within that policy. See, Safeco Insurance Co. of America v. Hawkeye-Security Insurance Co., 218 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969). See generally, Carquillo v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 529 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988); State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Becraft, 501 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Even if the statute did apply, however, Nationwide's exclusion does not violate the statute.

were provided by virtue of a provision which excluded UM coverage for bodily injury to an insured while occupying a highway vehicle other than an insured automobile owned by the named insured or by any person residing in the same household who was related to the named insured.

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