## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

RICHARD D. POUNDERS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MICHAEL DENNIS POUNDERS, deceased, and on behalf of RICHARD D. POUNDERS individually, and LINDA POUNDERS, individually,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 82,832

SID VITTE

APR 20 1991

APR 20 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY CHET DEPUTY CLERK

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

W. CLINTON WALLACE, ESQUIRE W. CLINTON WALLACE, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO.: 203130 POST OFFICE BOX 177 LAKELAND, FL 33802 TELEPHONE: 813-688-1500 ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

W. CLINTON WALLACE,
P. A.
ATJORNEY AT LAW
POST OFFICE BOX 177
1125 U. S. 98 SOUTH

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Both the trial court and the appellate court herein ruled in favor of the instant Plaintiff/Respondents upon an application of <u>Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). The Florida Supreme Court has recently released an opinion addressing <u>Mullis: World Wide Underwriters Insurance Company v. Welker</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S 153 (Fla. March 31, 1994). <u>Welker</u> provides the most pivotal law in regards to the instant case.

The Florida Supreme Court announced in Welker that when a claimant had "accepted financial (unlike in Mullis) responsibility for his [vehicle] by obtaining liability coverage [on it], but expressly decided, as the law allowed, to reject uninsured motorist coverage when he was operating the [vehicle, then] it would be unfair to allow [him] to collect uninsured motorist benefits from his mother's insurer under these circumstances." Id. In the instant case, however, the facts are exactly the opposite to Welker: the deceased had not obtained liability coverage for his motorcycle nor been given any opportunity to reject uninsured motorist coverage for it. Therefore, Welker does not preclude the granting of uninsured motorist coverage herein, and the instant case is, then, disposed of under Mullis, supra, which provides uninsured motorist coverage under the facts of this case.

W. CLINTON WALLACE,
P. A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
POST OFFICE BOX 177
1125 U. S. 98 SOUTH
LI D. FLORIDA 33801
(813) 688-1500

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED PURSUANT TO <u>FLA. STAT</u>. SECTION 627.727(1) MAY NOT EXCLUDE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE TO A CLASS-ONE INSURED WHEN HE IS KILLED WHILE RIDING A VEHICLE OWNED BY HIM BUT NOT INSURED UNDER ANY POLICY.

Dennis Pounders was killed while riding his motorcycle which was not covered under his parents' insurance policy with Nationwide nor under any other insurance policy. His parents, the Plaintiff/Petitioners, filed a claim under their Nationwide policy for uninsured motorist insurance benefits. The trial court and appellate courts awarded coverage based upon an application of Mullis, supra.

The instant Court discussed applicability of Mullis in Welker, supra. In Welker, the Supreme Court held that Mullis is inapplicable when the injured driver had his own liability insurance on the vehicle he was driving. The reason the Court gave for this is that when a claimant has "accepted financial responsibility for his [vehicle] by obtaining liability coverage [on it] but expressly decided, as the law allowed, to reject uninsured motorist coverage when he was operating the [vehicle, then] it would be unfair to allow [him] to collect uninsured motorist benefits from his mother's insurer under these circumstances." Welker, supra. In the instant case,

W. CLINTON WALLACE,
P. A.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
POST OFFICE BOX 177
1125 U. S. 98 SOUTH
LA D. FLORIDA 33801
613) 688-1500

however, precisely the opposite was true.

In the instance case the deceased had <u>no</u> liability coverage on his motorcycle. Therefore, <u>Welker</u> does not preclude coverage, which is then awarded under an application of <u>Mullis</u>. The instant court has already recently entertained extensive discussion on <u>Mullis</u> and the undersigned attorney shall not here repeat it. The best discussion of <u>Mullis</u> is found in RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF, PAGE 5 THROUGH 20, NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY v. KEVIN PHILLIPS AND KIMBERLY PHILLIPS, S.C. CASE NO. 80,986, already on file with the Court.

Therefore, the Second District Court of Appeals decision, which affirmed the trial court's granting of uninsured motorist coverage to the Plaintiffs/Respondents, under the rule of law of Mullis, should be here affirmed.

W. CLINTON WALLACE, P. A. ATTORNEY AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 177 1125 U. S. 98 SOUTH LO FLORIDA 33801 6131 688-1500

#### CONCLUSION

The Second District Court of Appeal properly affirmed this matter via an application of Mullis. The instant Court's recent Welker decision clarifies and explains that when a claimant has purchased his own liability insurance on the accident vehicle, Mullis does not apply. In the instant case, however, the deceased had not purchased liability insurance on his own vehicle, thereby making Mullis still applicable. Applying the law of Mullis to the instant case results in the award of uninsured motorist coverage to the instant Plaintiffs/Respondents. As such, the Second District Court of Appeal's decision herein should be affirmed.